### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 65,347

CITY OF PENSACOLA, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

## SUBSTITUTE INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ESCAMBIA COUNTY

Robert L. Nabors, Esquire NABORS, GIBLIN & STEFFENS, P.A. 102 South Monroe Street Post Office Box 11008 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 904/224-4070

Thomas R. Santurri, Esquire Escambia County Attorney 14 West Government Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 904/436-5450

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER ESCAMBIA COUNTY

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 65,347

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts will be discussed in detail in the argument rather than in an initial summary statement.

The City challenged various County services and programs as not providing the requisite benefit under Article VIII, Section 1(h), Florida Constitution, and Section 125.01(7), Florida Statutes. The legal issue in such "dual taxation" cases is whether the challenged county services and programs provide real and substantial benefits to municipal areas and residents. City of St. Petersburg v. Briley, Wild & Associates, Inc., 239 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1970). The trial court found that services provided by the Escambia County Sheriff's "patrol division" and expenditures by the County on roads classified as "local roads" by the Florida Department of Transportation failed to provide real and substantial benefits to municipal areas. The trial court found that the services provided by the investigation division of the Sheriff provided the requisite benefit which finding was not appealed by the City. (App I pp 6-9). The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court on the grounds that ". . . it does not appear (contrary to the County's assertion) that the trial court applied an incorrect legal standard . . . . " (App I p 2). This Court has accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument.

#### INTRODUCTION

The essence of this appeal is whether the trial judgment

and the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal in this case can stand in face of the decision by this Court in Town of Palm Beach v. Palm Beach County, Case No. 63,254 (Fla., October 18, 1984) (App I pp 13-25). The timing of the decisions in the two cases is ironic.

The original decision of the Fourth District Court in the Palm Beach County case was filed one day after the Final Judgment was entered in this case, 426 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). (App I pp 26-35). Prior to and during trial and at the time the Final Judgment was drafted, the reversed trial order in the Palm Beach County case was touted on the latest precedent. (App I pp 4-12). That the trial court in this case was influenced by the reversed final order in Palm Beach County is clear. At the hearing on the County's Motion for Rehearing based upon the decision of the Fourth District Court in Palm Beach County, the trial judge in this case recognized the conflict between his opinion and that of the Fourth District Court as follows:

"I think what we have is three judges at the appellate level and two at the trial level who have looked at, if what you say is correct, essentially the same facts, and have reached a three-two decision, is what it amounts to, which is simply to say that if it goes to the First District, or to the Supreme Court it could go either way. And I'm prepared to deny your motion at this time." (App II p 53).

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

WHETHER THE "REAL AND SUBSTANTIAL BENEFITS" TEST ESTABLISHED BY CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG V. BRILEY, WILD & ASSOCIATES, INC., 239 So.2d 817 (FLA. 1970), FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND SECTION 125.01(7), FLORIDA STATUTES, WAS INCORRECTLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT AND THE TRIAL COURT IN THE CASE.

The Constitutional and Statutory Limitation of Article VIII, Section 1(h), Florida Constitution and Section 125.01(7), Florida Statutes

Generally, there does not exist under the state constitution or law a requirement that a particular parcel of property receive a benefit from an authorized tax for the common good. The fact that the benefit of an authorized tax to a particular taxpayer is remote or doubtful, or his tax burden heavy, is immaterial against an authorized tax for a public purpose. Hunter v. Owens, 86 So. 839 (Fla. 1920); Dressel v. Dade County, 219 So.2d 716 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969). No concept of taxation requires a taxpayer or group of taxpayers to receive a dollar's worth of benefit for a dollar's worth of taxes.

The only provision in which benefit is a requirement for taxation is Article VIII, Section 1(h), Florida Constitution, which provides as follows:

Property situate within municipalities shall not be subject to taxation for services rendered

by the county exclusively for the benefit of the property or residents in unincorporated areas. 1

The first Florida Supreme Court decision construing this novel constitutional provision was <u>City of St. Petersburg</u> v. Briley, <u>Wild & Associates</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 239 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1970). In the <u>Briley</u>, <u>Wild</u> case, the county had levied taxes countywide to obtain funds to construct and expand sanitary sewerage facilities in the unincorporated areas. None of the owners of city-located property could physically use the expanded treatment plant even though they bore the burden of the ad valorem tax.

This Court in the <u>Briley</u>, <u>Wild</u> case rejected the broad interpretation that the word "exclusively" in Article VIII, Section 1(h), Florida Constitution, required that the benefit to municipal property and residents be direct and primary in order for it to be authorized and held on page 823:

"It is true that the benefits may not be direct in the sense that the owners of city-located property will physically use the expanded treatment plant, lines and lift stations. But we reject the argument of appellants that in order to avoid

¹The Florida Supreme Court in Manatee County v. Town of Longboat Key, 365 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1979) held that the proscription of Article VIII, Section 1(h), applied only to property taxation and not to revenues of a county not derived from property taxation. The Florida Supreme Court in the Manatee County case also held that the statutory tests under Section 125.01(6), Florida Statutes, and Article VIII, Section 1(h) were the same. Section 125.01(7), Florida Statutes, was adopted in response to the decision in the Manatee County case and applied the constitutional test to all county revenues except those derived from or on behalf of the unincorporated area of a county.

the proscription of Article VIII, Section 1(h) it is necessary that any benefit to municipalities be direct and primary. We hold that the proper interpretation of the language of this section of the Constitution does not require a direct and primary use benefit from a particular service to city-located property in order to remove the same from the proscription of the constitutional It is sufficient to authorize county provision. taxation of such property if the benefits accruing to the municipal areas are found to be real and substantial and not merely illusory, ephemeral and inconsequential. That it was not the intent of the framers of this provision of the Constitution to require a direct benefit to city-located property in order to avoid the proscription is evidenced by the fact that attempts to amend the provision to substitute the words 'directly' and 'primarily' for the word 'exclusively' were defeated before the proposition was submitted to the people for approval." (Emphasis added)

Having forged these rules of construction, this Court held that the resulting elimination of pollution in the waters of the county due to the improved sewerage facilities was a real and substantial benefit to city-situate property even though physical use of the facilities was totally unavailable to such city residents and property.

The second case construing the provisions of Article VIII, Section 1(h), Florida Constitution, is <u>Burke v. Charlotte</u> County, 286 So.2d 199 Fla. 1973), in which this Court held that the levy of taxes countywide to provide funds for the construction and surfacing of roads not within the boundaries of any municipality was authorized since such roads provided the requisite benefit to municipal areas.

In Alsdorf v. Broward County, 373 So.2d 695 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), the court affirmed the findings of the trial

court that the challenged services on appeal of the sheriff's road patrol and library services did provide real and substantial benefit to municipal residents and reaffirmed the constitutional test on page 698 as follows:

"The benefit to the city need not be direct and primary. It is only necessary that the benefit not be illusory or inconsequential."2

This <u>Alsdorf</u> decision is the first case to set forth the factors of benefit to be considered in applying the constitutional test to services provided by a sheriff. As to the challenged library services, the court in the second <u>Alsdorf</u> case made the following comment on page 699:

"The fact that appellants might prefer a different system as a matter of policy does not mean that the municipal residents themselves do not receive real and substantial benefits."

This quote by the court from the second <u>Alsdorf</u> case emphasizes the distinction between political and policy questions and the constitutional test. The question of the equitable allocation of revenues and the comparative benefit between classes of residents and various areas of a county are political and legislative questions and not legal ones if the benefit provided by the county service to municipal residents and property is real and substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This Court in <u>Alsdorf v. Broward County</u>, 333 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1976) had remanded the issues to the trial court and held that the provisions of Article VIII, Section 1(h) were self-executing with or without legislative guidelines.

and not merely illusory, ephemeral and inconsequential.

This distinction was also recognized by the Second District Court of Appeal in Manatee County v. Town of Longboat Key, 352 So.2d 869 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1977) at page 872:

"The framers of our Constitution must have recognized that there are many county services which provide an indirect yet real benefit to city dwellers. There is no need to be concerned with how much more benefit from this type of service county property owners may receive when compared to city property owners because these are not services which are rendered exclusively for the benefit of the counties. The only services which must be considered are those rendered by the county which result "in no real or substantial benefits to the municipal property owners."

The term "double taxation" is a misnomer. The issue is not that, since a municipality provides a service, its residents and property cannot be taxed doubly for a similar service provided by the county. The fact that residents and property in the unincorporated areas benefit from the duplicated service provided by the municipalities is immaterial in the constitutional analysis. There is always a disparity of benefit received between residents, property and areas, both unincorporated and municipal. As recognized in City of Ormond Beach v. County of Volusia, 383 So.2d 671 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) at page 674:

"There are numerous instances where there is a disparity of services between one area of a county and another. Municipalities have their own police but city residents are also taxed for the services of the Sheriff. Cities maintain their own road system, but properties within the city can also be taxed for maintenance and installation of county roads outside of the city. Many residents may never use the services of

the Sheriff or travel the county roads, but they are available for use by the city resident as well as those who live outside the city."<sup>3</sup>

The Decision in Town of Palm Beach v. Palm Beach County, Case No. 63,254 (Florida Supreme Court, October 18, 1984).

The trial court in this case focused on the degree of direct benefit received by municipal areas and residents in the same manner as the reversed trial court in the <u>Palm Beach County</u> case. Substantially identical theories of direct and quantifiable benefits were utilized by the plaintiff municipalities and their experts in both cases. The evidence presented and theories of benefit asserted in both cases are virtually identical. In <u>Palm Beach County</u>, the Fourth District Court summarized the evidence presented as to the challenged law enforcement as follows:

"The record supports the conclusion that the primary purpose of the sheriff's road patrol division is to operate as a police force for the unincorporated areas of Palm Beach County. The division does not regularly patrol any of the four plaintiff municipalities. The road patrol is a response-to-call service; however, a person calling from one of the plaintiff municipalities is ordinarily referred to the appropriate municipal police department." (App I p 43).

Similarly, the trial court in this case summarized the almost identical evidence presented as to the sheriff's road patrol as follows:

"The patrol areas of the Sheriff's road patrol

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the <u>City of Ormond Beach</u> case, the court held that the challenged library services did provide requisite benefit to residents and property within the municipal areas.

adjacent to the City do not include portions of the City. The Sheriff's road patrol does not routinely patrol any area of the City. Complaints received by the Sheriff's Department from areas within the City are referred to the City of Pensacola Police Department for responses unless the Sheriff's Department is specifically requested to respond. Evidence submitted at trial indicated a minute number of responses by the Sheriff's road patrol within the City." (App I p 6).

The salient evidence relied on by the plaintiff municipalities and the trial court in the Palm Beach County case and this cause was a statistical analysis by expert witnesses of minimal incidents of <u>direct</u> benefit to municipal areas and residents. In the Palm Beach County case, the statistical analysis concluded that the percentage of incidents where a deputy sheriff responded directly within the boundaries of a municipality or provided assistance directly to a municipality constituted 0.17% of the total activities of the sheriff for a year. In this case, this statistical analysis concluded that the number of cases where the law enforcement activity occurred within the boundaries of the City or where a city resident was the victim was 3.7% and 3.5% of the total cases of the sheriff for the two study periods. Such statistical analysis embraces solely factors of direct benefit involving physical presence within the boundaries of a municipality or direct contact with a municipal resident or their property.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>If a similar direct benefit statistical analysis had been performed by an expert witness in the <u>Briley, Wild</u> case, the conclusion would yield 0% of direct benefits to municipal areas from the challenged sewer system.

In explaining the quantified direct benefit nature of this evidence relied on by the plaintiff municipalities, their expert and the trial court, the Fourth District Court in the Palm Beach County case held:

"Another factor that arises in the present case and one that we considered in Alsdorf, is the undeniable benefit to the municipalities of activity of the sheriff's road patrol and detective division resulting in reducing the crime rate in the unincorporated areas and particularly in the eastern urban corridor adjacent to these municipalities, lessening the potential spill-over of that criminal activity. There are, in addition, more remote but potential benefits in the form of the backup capability of the sheriff's department available in time of emergency or particular need and the crime deterrent factor resulting from the visibility of marked sheriff's patrol vehicles in and around the municipalities. As the latter examples demonstrate, not every benefit that the municipalities derive from the road patrol and detective division are quantifiable, as that term has been used by the parties throughout this appeal. The direct and demonstrable benefits when coupled with these unquantifiable benefits compel the conclusion that, in total, the municipalities enjoy a real and substantial benefit from the sheriff's road patrol and detective division. We therefore concluded that the trial court's holding to the contrary is not supported by substantial competent evidence." (Emphasis added) (App I pp 47-48)

The Fourth District Court in the <u>Palm Beach County</u> case after quoting the language of this Court in the <u>Briley</u>, <u>Wild</u> case that established the constitutional test held as follows:

". . . we suggest that one factor which distinguishes our holding from that of the trial court is in differing perceptions of the quantum and quality of benefit that is entailed in the concept of 'real and substantial'.

\*\*\*

In <u>Briley</u>, <u>Wild</u> the City of St. Petersburg was not to be connected into the sewer system, thus there was <u>no direct</u> benefit. In the present case both direct and indirect benefits are involved. Applying the foregoing standard we have therefore concluded that there was not substantial competent evidence to support findings that the services and programs referenced by the complaints filed in this cause did not provide real and substantial benefits to the respective municipalities." (Emphasis Court's) (App I p 52).

This interpretation and application of the <u>Briley</u>, <u>Wild</u> real and substantial benefits test by the Fourth District Court in the <u>Palm Beach County</u> case was approved by this Court in its opinion dated October 18, 1984:

"The constitutional proscription against 'double taxation', Article VIII, section 1(h), Florida Constitution, and indeed, the statutory prohibition, section 125.08, Florida Statutes (1981), are not framed in terms of proportionality. Each merely requires that the municipality and its residents receive a benefit which must achieve a magnitude described as "real and substantial". Briley, Wild, 239 So.2d at 823. As we have stated in the past, substantial is not necessarily a quantifiable term and a benefit may achieve substantiality without being direct or primary. All that is required is a minimum level of benefit which is not illusory, ephemeral or inconsequential. (App I p 14).

While not discussing the facts, the First District Court attempted to distinguish the decision of the Fourth District Court in the Palm Beach County case by asserting that the trial court in Palm Beach County had not considered "unquantifiable" or indirect benefits while the trial court in this case did. Such assertion is simply in error. The misinterpretation of the real and substantial benefits test by the trial court in this case is highlighted by

the following findings of fact in the Final Judgment.

"The County argues that there are indirect benefits to the City. The Court finds that there are revenues provided by the County for which the citizenry of the City of Pensacola derive no real and substantial benefits and for which there are no indirect benefits as a matter of law. (Emphasis added) (App I p 10).

Rejecting as a matter of law all indirect benefits that cannot be quantified is the identical incorrect direct benefit standard utilized by the trial court in the Palm Beach County case.

The fact that the theory of the City and the findings of the trial court in this case on the issue of local roads was based upon the reversed trial order in the Palm Beach County case is unquestioned. The challenge in both cases was that all roads classified by the Florida Department of Transportation as local roads failed to provide the requisite benefit to municipal areas and residents. The permeation of this direct benefit analysis in the Final Judgment is illustrated by the following finding:

"Local roads <u>primarily</u> serve abutting property owners. All of the County's local roads are contained in the unincorporated areas of the County. <u>Primary</u> benefits of local roads are to the people who live on them." (Emphasis added) (App I p 8).

#### POINT II

THE FINDING OF FACT BY THE TRIAL COURT THAT THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE PALM BEACH COUNTY SHERIFF AND IDENTIFIED AS THE PATROL DIVISION WERE RENDERED IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE VIII, SECTION 1(h), FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND SECTION 125.01(7), FLORIDA STATUTES, WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN THE APPLICATION OF LAW TO THE FINDINGS OF FACT AS TO SUCH IDENTIFIED SERVICES.

## Evidence and Testimony of the City Relied on by the Trial Court

The evidence presented by the City to meet their burden of proof consisted of a statistical study of recorded complaints and traffic tickets, the Sheriff's patrol district map<sup>5</sup> and the opinion testimony of Mr. Robert Chambers as a "double taxation expert." The opinion testimony of Mr. Chambers that the Sheriff's patrol division and investigation division did not provide real and substantial benefit was based upon the two statistical studies and ". . . the fact that the Pensacola Police Department is a full-service police department." (App II pp 61-67).

The City introduced the Sheriff's patrol district map into evidence through the testimony of Captain Norman Silcox, Captain of the Sheriff's Patrol Division. As depicted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Plaintiff's Ex 32.

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