IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 65,347

ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF PENSACOLA, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 16 1004 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

07

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON ORDER ACCEPTING DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT

> Don J. Caton, City Attorney John W. Fleming, Assistant City Attorney P.O. Box 12910 Pensacola, Florida 32521 (904) 436-4320

W. Peter Burns STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS 4000 Southeast Financial Center Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 577-2800

Attorneys for the City of Pensacola

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

ARGUMENT

The County's brief is broken into three sections, dealing with the following issues: the application of the "real and substantial benefits" test; the Sheriff's road patrol; and County local roads. Our response to points two and three is necessarily factual, because the County's brief on these points is factual. The legal arguments in point one relate to both points two and three.

Ι.

THE TRIAL COURT AND THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE LAW OF DOUBLE TAXATION, AND THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE CLOTHED WITH A PRESUMPTION OF CORRECTNESS.

A. The law of double taxation.

In the period following World War II, Florida experienced very rapid growth. One result of this growth was the development of tensions between units of local government, arising out of a tax inequity which occurred in cases where the population in the unincorporated portions of a county

3/ Resolution 38-81, PX 55.

became sufficiently concentrated to require, or demand, municipal-type services. Where previously a few main County highways had been adequate for the needs of rural areas, a system of local streets became necessary to give new sub-division residents access to their homes. Where a small sheriff's office had been adequate to serve the needs of small, mostly rural populations, the new sub-divisions wanted a full line of municipal-type police services.

City residents, already paying city taxes to fund their own local streets and municipal police departments, understandably did not want their county taxes to subsidize these same services to unincorporated area residents. In some cases, city residents sued to redress what they viewed as a serious inequity. <u>See, for instance, Dressel v. Dade</u> <u>County</u>, 219 So.2d 716 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), <u>cert. dismissed</u> 226 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1969). However, the existing law was not sufficient to deal with the problem, and the inequities continued. $\frac{4}{7}$

It was against this background that the Constitution of 1968 was written. The Constitutional Revision Commission, the Legislature, and the people of Florida who voted to adopt the new Constitution provided, in Article VIII, §1(h),

^{4/} The County unconvincingly tries to paint Article VIII, §1(h) as some sort of bizarre anomaly: "The only provision in which benefit is a requirement for taxation is Article VIII, Section 1(h)...." (CB 4). The fact is that Article VIII, §1(h), and its implementing legislation, are the only grounds upon which this suit was based.

a legal basis for resolving the tensions, thus arming the courts with the power to correct double taxation:

Taxes-limitation. Property situate within municipalities shall not be subject to taxation for services rendered by the county exclusively for the benefit of the property or residents in unincorporated areas.

This provision was first construed by this Court in City of St. Petersburg v. Briley, Wild & Associates, Inc., 239 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1970). In that case, this Court focused on the meaning of the phrase "exclusively for the benefit of the property or residents in unincorporated areas," and reviewed in some detail the historical background of the provision in order to determine the meaning of the constitutional language. Finding that an excessively literal reading of the word "exclusively" would do violence to the intent of the framers of the 1968 Constitution, this Court concluded:

> To interpret the language used in this provision to mean that the County could tax city-located property for minute benefits rendered to such property would do violence to the intent and purpose of the framers and of the people in adopting the 1968 Constitution. It is evident from such historical background that the evil sought to be remedied was the taxation of municipally-located property for services rendered by the County which result in no real or substantial benefit to such property. We, therefore, hold that Article VIII, Section 1(h) of the 1968 constitution of Florida prohibits the taxation of municipally-situate property by

> > -10-

the County for any services rendered by the County where no real or substantial benefit accrues to city property from such services. Conversely, this provision permits such taxation where such service is found to be of real and substantial benefit to such property. (239 So.2d at 822-823).

Thus the term "real and substantial benefit," which remains the touchstone of double taxation jurisprudence in Florida, entered the legal lexicon.

The phrase appeared again in this Court's opinion in <u>Alsdorf v. Broward County</u>, 333 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1976) <u>("Alsdorf I</u>"), where this Court held that Article VIII, §1(h) is "self-executing, and that with or without legislative interpretation the courts will be required to draw the lines between acceptable and prohibited municipal taxation." (333 So.2d at 460).

Quite clearly, however, legislative implementation of Article VIII, §1(h) was desirable, and the Legislature did implement the Constitutional provision by the passage of c. 74-191, which added §125.01(6) to Florida Statutes. That section permits the governing body of a city, by resolution, to identify services which it believes provide no real and substantial benefit to city residents. The county commission is required to respond within 90 days, and either reject the city's complaint, or "develop appropriate mechanisms" to alleviate the problem.

-11-

In <u>Manatee County v. Town of Longboat Key</u>, cited above, this Court, recognizing that Article VIII, §1(h) only refers to County ad valorem taxation, ruled:

> We hold that Article VIII, Section 1(h) applies only to property taxation. We are aware of the possibility that with this holding, counties may use revenues not derived from property taxation exclusively for projects benefiting residents and property in unincorporated areas causing a serious imbalance in benefits received between county and municipal property owners and residents. <u>The Legislature must address</u> this possibility. (365 So.2d at 148; emphasis added.)

Responding to this judicial suggestion, the Legislature passed c. 79-87, which created §125.01(7), applying the concept to all County revenues:

> (7) No county revenues, except those derived specifically from or on behalf of a municipal service taxing unit, special district, unincorporated area, service area, or program area, shall be used to fund any service or project provided by the county where no real and substantial benefit accrues to the property or residents within a municipality or municipalities.

In <u>Manatee County</u> and other cases, this Court has also ruled that cities have standing to bring double taxation lawsuits on behalf of their citizens (<u>Manatee</u> <u>County</u>); that a court of equity has the power to require a county to eliminate double taxation which the court finds to exist (<u>Manatee County</u>); and that money judgments against counties are not, in general, available for double taxation

-12-

during past tax years.<u>5</u>/ (<u>Manatee County</u>). The Second District has also held that, while a court of equity may order a county to eliminate double taxation, it may not direct the county to follow a particular course to reach the judicially-ordered result. <u>Sarasota County v. Town of</u> <u>Longboat Key</u>, 353 So.2d 569 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), <u>rev'd in</u> <u>part</u>, 375 So.2d 847 (Fla. 1979).

The law of double taxation today, therefore, is as follows: it is unconstitutional and contrary to statute for a county to use any county revenues, except those derived specifically from the unincorporated area of the County, to pay for any service or program which provides no real and substantial benefit to municipal residents; if a county refuses to eliminate such "double taxation"⁶/ upon demand by a city, the city may sue to require the elimination of the double taxation; if, after trial, the court finds double taxation to exist, it must direct the county to develop an appropriate mechanism to eliminate it.

"Municipal-type" services

As set forth above, Article VIII, §1(h), and §125.01(6), Fla. Stat. (1983), were adopted in response to

^{5/} In the courts below, we argued (unsuccessfully) that Manatee County does not bar an award of damages to the City here.

^{6/} Since the adoption of §125.01(7), the term "double taxation" is a misnomer, since the prohibition now extends to all county revenues, not just tax revenues. The term double (or dual) taxation persists, however, both in the cases and in legal parlance.

the post-war boom in suburban growth, with the concomitant demand by unincorporated area residents for municipal-type services. Today, county governments, particularly in urbanized counties like Escambia County, are both regional governments for all citizens within their boundaries, and also municipal governments for their citizens living in the unincorporated area. In their first capacity they provide countywide services -- the courts, the jails, the countywide road network, and so on -- for which all county citizens should justly pay. In their second capacity, they provide municipal services -- in particular, police services, and construction, maintenance and repair of local streets -which should be paid for by the citizens receiving the real and substantial benefit of those services.

This distinction is given constitutional recognition in Article VII, $\S9(b)$ of the Florida Constitution, which permits ten mills of County taxation for "county purposes," and an additional ten mills of taxation for "municipal purposes." It is recognized again in \$125.01, Fla. Stat. (1983), a section which is peculiarly relevant to double taxation cases.^{7/} One of the legislatively-prescribed methods for

<u>7</u>/ Section 125.01 was amended in 1974 by c. 74-191, which added section 125.01(1)(q), discussed in the text. The Legislative Summary of the Florida House of Representatives of General Bills of the 1974 Session states, as to c. 74-191, that "the main focus of the bill, is its attempt to deal with the problem of 'double taxation.' Its intent is to make those who are receiving municipal services bear the financial burden, rather than continue to force city residents to carry the load for the unincorporated area residents." (A. 43).

elimination of double taxation is the creation of an MSTU -a <u>municipal service</u> taxing unit -- to raise revenue from unincorporated area residents in order to pay for municipaltype services enjoyed by those residents. The purpose of such units is made particularly clear by §125.01(1)(q), Fla. Stat. (1981), which authorizes county governments to:

> (q) Establish, and subsequently merge or abolish those created hereunder, municipal service taxing or benefit units for any part or all of the unincorporated area of the county, within which may be provided fire protection, <u>law enforcement</u>, beach erosion control, recreation service and facilities, water, <u>streets</u>, <u>sidewalks</u>, <u>street lighting</u>, garbage and trash collection and disposal, waste and sewage collection and disposal, <u>drainage</u>, <u>transportation</u>, and other essential facilities and <u>municipal services</u> from funds derived from service charges, special assessments, or taxes within such unit only. (Emphasis added).

The transcript of the 1966 Revision Commission^{8/} which drafted the 1968 Constitution makes it very clear that the "municipal-type" services which the Commissioners had in mind included exactly the sorts of services at issue in this lawsuit. Consider, for instance, the following colloquy

<u>8</u>/ Relevant excerpts from the transcript are attached as part of the Appendix. (A. 10). In order to determine the meaning of the Constitutional section, the Court is "privileged to look at the background of this particular provision." <u>Briley Wild</u>, cited above, 239 So.2d at 822.

-15-

between Mr. Martin, the chief proponent of the provision, and Senator John E. Mathews, Jr., of Jacksonville:

> MR. MATHEWS: Mr. Martin, isn't all you are trying to do is make the tax picture fair, so that people that live inside the city and pay city taxes for certain purposes don't have to also pay county taxes rendered by the county to people outside the county?

> > *

MR. MARTIN: Yes, sir, exactly. (A. 16-17)

*

MR. MATHEWS: May I use as an illustration and ask you, we've got this problem in Duval County, we have attempted to solve it by what we call an omnibus bill, and what we did was pass -- create a special tax district consisting of all the territory in unincorporated area and authorize that special tax district through the commissioners of the county commission to levy a tax on people and property outside the municipalities for street lights, for fire protection, for police protection and for recreational purposes and for a health department, knowing that the city duplicated those functions for people inside the city. Isn't that what you are trying to get at?

MR. MARTIN: Yes, sir, exactly. (A. 17-18).

This and other sections of the transcript $\frac{9}{}$ show a clear intent that "municipal-type" services, including in

9/ See, for instance, A. 11; 23; 29-30; 37-38.

-16-

particular police protection and local county roads, should be paid for by the people who receive the benefits of these services. <u>See also</u> Comment, <u>Toward Solving the Double</u> <u>Taxation Dilemma Among Florida's Local Governments: The</u> Municipal Service Taxing Unit, 8 Fla.St.U.L.Rev. 749 (1980).

B. Standard of review.

It is well settled that the findings of a trial judge sitting without a jury are clothed with a presumption of correctness and that the "prevailing rule in this jurisdiction [is] that an appellate court cannot re-evaluate the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the trial court." <u>Hollywood Beach Hotel Co. v. City of</u> Hollywood, 329 So.2d 10, 15 (Fla. 1976).

As this Court noted in <u>Shaw v. Shaw</u>, 334 So.2d 13, 16 (Fla. 1976):

It is clear that the function of the trial court is to evaluate and weigh the testimony and evidence based upon its observation of the bearing, demeanor and credibility of the witnesses appearing in the cause. It is not the function of the appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court through re-evaluation of the testimony and evidence from the record on appeal before it . . . Subject to the appellate court's right to reject "inherently incredible and improbable testimony or evidence," it is not the prerogative of an appellate court, upon a de novo consideration of the record, to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court.

Accord, Delgado v. Strong, 360 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1978); Crain & Crouse, Inc. v. Palm Bay Towers Corp., 326 So.2d 182 (Fla.

-17-

1976); <u>Westerman v. Shell's City, Inc.</u>, 265 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1972); <u>Herzog v. Herzog</u>, 346 So.2d 56 (Fla. 1977).

This principle has particular importance in double taxation cases where each challenged service raises peculiar factual questions, and where the determination of real and substantial benefit depends on the nature of the petitioner city, the nature of the defendant county, and numerous other relevant circumstances existing during the tax years in question. <u>Alsdorf v. Broward County</u>, 373 So.2d 695, at 700-701, (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), <u>cert. denied</u> 385 So.2d 754 (Fla. 1980) (<u>"Alsdorf II"</u>); <u>Manatee County v. Town of</u> <u>Longboat Key</u>, 352 So.2d 869, 872 n. 4 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), <u>rev' d in part on the other grounds</u>, 365 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1978).

Recognizing that Judge Gordon's ruling against the City on the issue of the Sheriff's investigation division was based upon competent, substantial evidence, we did not appeal that ruling (although we disagreed with it). The County, however, apparently believes that it is entitled to a third bite at the apple in this Court, on factual as well as legal issues, and so recites its view of the evidence on the road patrol and the local roads in excruciating detail. While we urge this Court to recognize that the resolution of factual disputes was a task reserved to the trial court (and secondarily to the District Court), we have little choice but to respond to the County's biased presentation of

-18-

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